ALLOG OB7L40 NATLINST OF STANDARDS & TECHRIC. A1103087140 A1103087140 (Planar test structures for characteriz) (Planar

# NBS SPECIAL PUBLICATION 400-21

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE / National Bureau of Standards

# Semiconductor Measurement Technology:

# Planar Test Structures for Characterizing Impurities in Silicon

2C 00 157 1400-21 176 1.2

## NATIONAL BUREAU OF STANDARDS

The National Bureau of Standards<sup>1</sup> was established by an act of Congress March 3, 1901. The Bureau's overall goal is to strengthen and advance the Nation's science and technology and facilitate their effective application for public benefit. To this end, the Bureau conducts research and provides: (1) a basis for the Nation's physical measurement system, (2) scientific and technological services for industry and government, (3) a technical basis for equity in trade, and (4) technical services to promote public safety. The Bureau consists of the Institute for Basic Standards, the Institute for Materials Research, the Institute for Applied T<sub>i</sub>echnology, the Institute for Computer Sciences and Technology, and the Office for Information Programs.

THE INSTITUTE FOR BASIC STANDARDS provides the central basis within the United States of a complete and consistent system of physical measurement; coordinates that system with measurement systems of other nations; and furnishes essential services leading to accurate and uniform physical measurements throughout the Nation's scientific community, industry, and commerce. The Institute consists of the Office of Measurement Services, the Office of Radiation Measurement and the following Center and divisions:

Applied Mathematics — Electricity — Mechanics — Heat — Optical Physics — Center for Radiation Research: Nuclear Sciences: Applied Radiation — Laboratory Astrophysics <sup>a</sup> — Cryogenics <sup>a</sup> — Electromagnetics <sup>a</sup> — Time and Frequency <sup>a</sup>.

THE INSTITUTE FOR MATERIALS RESEARCH conducts materials research leading to improved methods of measurement, standards, and data on the properties of well-characterized materials needed by industry, commerce, educational institutions, and Government; provides advisory and research services to other Government agencies; and develops, produces, and distributes standard reference materials. The Institute consists of the Office of Standard Reference Materials, the Office of Air and Water Measurement, and the following divisions:

Analytical Chemistry — Polymers — Metallurgy — Inorganic Materials — Reactor Radiation — Physical Chemistry.

THE INSTITUTE FOR APPLIED TECHNOLOGY provides technical services to promote the use of available technology and to facilitate technological innovation in industry and Government; cooperates with public and private organizations leading to the development of technological standards (including mandatory safety standards), codes and methods of test; and provides technical advice and services to Government agencies upon request. The Institute consists of the following divisions and Centers:

Standards Application and Analysis — Electronic Technology — Center for Consumer Product Technology: Product Systems Analysis; Product Engineering — Center for Building Technology: Structures, Materials, and Life Safety; Building Environment; Technical Evaluation and Application — Center for Fire Research: Fire Science; Fire Safety Engineering.

THE INSTITUTE FOR COMPUTER SCIENCES AND TECHNOLOGY conducts research and provides technical services designed to aid Government agencies in improving cost effectiveness in the conduct of their programs through the selection, acquisition, and effective utilization of automatic data processing equipment; and serves as the principal focus within the executive branch for the development of Federal standards for automatic data processing equipment, techniques, and computer languages. The Institute consists of the following divisions:

Computer Services — Systems and Software — Computer Systems Engineering — Information Technology.

THE OFFICE FOR INFORMATION PROGRAMS promotes optimum dissemination and accessibility of scientific information generated within NBS and other agencies of the Federal Government; promotes the development of the National Standard Reference Data System and a system of information analysis centers dealing with the broader aspects of the National Measurement System; provides appropriate services to ensure that the NBS staff has optimum accessibility to the scientific information of the world. The Office consists of the following organizational units:

Office of Standard Reference Data — Office of Information Activities — Office of Technical Publications — Library — Office of International Relations — Office of International Standards.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Headquarters and Laboratories at Gaithersburg, Maryland, unless otherwise noted; mailing address Washington, D.C. 20234.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Located at Boulder, Colorado 80302.

DF STANDARD LIBRARY

VAN 2 8 1.70

not acc QC100

0 (157

no. 400

1976 0.2

Semiconductor Measurement Technology:

# **Planar Test Structures for Characterizing Impurities in Silicon**

+ Special publication no. 400-21.

M. G. Buehler, J. M. David, R. L. Mattis, W. E. Phillips, and W. R. Thurber

**Electronic Technology Division** Institute for Applied Technology National Bureau of Standards Washington, D.C. 20234

Jointly supported by

The National Bureau of Standards The Defense Nuclear Agency The Defense Advanced Research Projects Agency, and The Navy Strategic Systems Project Office



U.S. DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE, Rogers C. B. Morton, Secretary

James A. Baker, III, Under Secretary

Dr. Betsy Ancker-Johnson, Assistant Secretary for Science and Technology U.S NATIONAL BUREAU OF STANDARDS, Ernest Ambler, Acting Director

Issued January 1976

111

#### Library of Congress Cataloging in Publication Data

Main entry under title:

Planar test structures for characterizing impurities in silicon.

(Semiconductor measurement technology) (National Bureau of Standards special publication: 400-21)

"Presented as an invited paper . . . at the Large-Scale Inter-gration (LSI) Process Technology/Semiconductor Preparation and Characterization Session of the Electrochemical Society Meeting in Toronto, Canada on May 14, 1975."

Bibliography: p. Supt. of Docs. No.: (\_13.10:400-21

1. Semiconductors-Testing-Congresses. 2. Silicon-Defects -Congresses, I. Buehler, Martin G. II. Series. III. Series: United States, National Bureau of Standards, Special publication; 400-21, QC100.U57 No. 400-21 [TK7871.85] 602'.1s [620,1'93] 75-619390

## National Bureau of Standards Special Publication 400-21

Nat. Bur. Stand. (U.S.), Spec. Publ. 400-21, 32 pages (Jan. 1976)

CODEN: XNBSAV

#### U.S. GOVERNMENT PRINTING OFFICE WASHINGTON: 1976

#### CONTENTS

### PAGE

1.	Introduction	
2.	Diffused Layer Sheet Resistance	2
3.	Bulk Dopant Density	3
4.	Defect Centers	ł
5.	Conclusions	ł
6.	Acknowledgements	ł
7.	References	5

#### LIST OF FIGURES

Figure	1.	Test pattern NBS-3 [3] fabricated with base (B), emitter (E), contact (C), and metal (M) masks. The length of the pattern along one side is 200 mil (5.08 mm)	6
Figure	2.	Base sheet resistance values across a silicon wafer for both the bridge and van der Pauw structures. The dimen- sion refers to the active portion of the structures; di- ameters are indicated for 3.11 and 3.30, the length of the side of a square is indicated for 3.22, and the width of the bridge structure is given for 3.28	7
Figure	3.	Base bridge and van der Pauw sheet resistor structures. The center-to-center metal pad spacings are indicated. The voltage points are denoted $V_1$ and $V_2$ , and the current points are denoted $I_1$ and $I_2$ . The van der Pauw structure was laid out with orthogonal boundaries to aid automatic pattern generation $\vdots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	8
Figure	4.	Base-diffusion-window width across three silicon wafers etched for three, six, and nine minutes and measured by electrical and photographic methods	9
Figure	5.	The orthogonal van der Pauw sheet resistor structure and its mathematical equivalent geometry. The dimension S = 1.5 mil (38 $\mu m$ ), A/S = 1/3, and D/S = 1/6	10
Figure	6.	Influence of geometrical factors on the orthogonal van der Pauw sheet resistance measurement as determined by a theoretical calculation. In the van der Pauw formula, $R_s$ (VDP), $\Delta V$ is $V_1-V_2$ for a current I passed into $I_1$ and out of $I_2$ as shown in the van der Pauw structure of figure 3	11
Figure	7.	Cross sectional view of the large base-collector diode (3.10)	12
Figure	8.	Junction C-V apparent dopant profiles taken with the use of the gated diode (3.10) shown in figure 7 biased with various gate voltages, $V_{\rm G}$	13
Figure	9.	Cross sectional view of the small base-collector gated , diode (3.14)	14

Figure	10.	Junction C-V dopant profiles taken with the large and small base-collector gated diodes shown in figures 7 and 9. The corrected profiles illustrate the importance of the peripheral capacitance correction (wafer Bl2Ph-1)	14
Figure	11.	Cross sectional view of the collector MOS capacitor (3.8)	15
Figure	12.	MOS capacitor C-V dopant profile taken with the use of the collector MOS capacitor (3.8) shown in figure 11 (wafer 702). The depletion depth in the silicon for the inversion condition is $X_D$ , and the Debye length is $\lambda_D$ .	15
Figure	13.	Top view and cross sectional views of the collector four-probe resistor (3.17). The center-to-center metal pad spacing is indicated on the upper photomicrograph	16
Figure	14.	Normalized resistivity difference versus dopant density for <i>n</i> -type silicon (300 K) which compares the work of Irvin [1] and Caughey-Thomas [11]	17
Figure	15.	Normalized resistivity difference versus dopant density for <i>n</i> -type silicon (300 K) which compares experimental data determined by NBS to the Caughey-Thomas [11] formula	18
Figure	16.	Resistivity versus dopant density relation for <i>p</i> -type silicon (300 K). The curves are taken from the work of Irvin [1] and Wagner [2]. The data points are explained in the text	19
Figure	17.	Surface dopant density of a $p$ -type Gaussian diffused layer in uniformly doped $n$ -type silicon as a function of the product of the sheet resistance (300 K) and junction depth for various background dopant densities, N <sub>B</sub>	20
Figure	18.	Normalized resistivity difference versus dopant density for <i>p</i> -type silicon (300 K) which compares experimental data to the Wagner formula [2]. Also shown is a com- parison between the Caughey-Thomas [11] and Wagner [2] formulas	21
Figure	19.	An outline of the thermally stimulated current measurement obtained with the use of a $p-n$ junction $\ldots$ $\ldots$	22
Figure	20.	Thermally stimulated current response of the gold donor located on the <i>n</i> -side of an $n^+p$ silicon junction for various heating rates [13]	23
Figure	21.	Thermally stimulated current response of the gold acceptor located on the <i>n</i> -side of a $p^+n$ silicon junction for various heating rates [14]	24
Figure	22.	Thermally stimulated current response of the gold acceptor in an $n$ -type silicon MOS capacitor for various heating rates [14]	24
Figure	23.	Thermally stimulated current response of the gold accep- tor in <i>n</i> -type silicon for a heating rate of 10 K/s and for various G-factor values (explained in the text) [14]. The current is divided by a factor which includes the electronic charge, the area of the junction, the deple- tion width and the gold density	25

#### PREFACE

This was presented as an invited paper by M. G. Buehler at the Large-Scale Integration (LSI) Process Technology/Semiconductor Preparation and Characterization Session of the Electrochemical Society Meeting in Toronto, Canada on May 14, 1975. An abstract was published in Extended Abstracts, The Electrochemical Society, Vol. 75-1, 403-404 (1975).

The work was conducted as part of the Semiconductor Technology Program at the National Bureau of Standards. Portions of this work were supported by the Defense Nuclear Agency (IACRO 75-816), Advanced Research Projects Agency (Order No. 2397), U.S. Navy Strategic Systems Project Office (IPR SP-75-4), and the NBS.

In the semiconductor industry it is common practice to design photomasks in English units. The photomasks used in this study were laid out in English units. The equivalent metric unit is given in parentheses and in some cases rounded off to an appropriate number of significant figures.

v

PLANAR TEST STRUCTURES FOR CHARACTERIZING IMPURITIES IN SILICON

by

M. G. Buehler, J. M. David, R. L. Mattis, W. E. Phillips, and W. R. Thurber

Abstract: Various test structures such as sheet resistors, p-n junctions, and MOS capacitors and their associated physical models have been developed to characterize dopants and defects in silicon. These structures address various needs within the semiconductor industry for (a) well-designed and miniaturized test structures such as an orthogonal van der Pauw sheet resistor, (b) simple and economical measurements such as the oxide window width of a diffused layer, (c) updated values for the resistivity versus dopant density relation, and (d) improved detection methods for identifying defect centers which control the lifetime and leakage currents of devices.

Key Words: MOS capacitors; p-n junctions; resistivity of silicon; semiconductor devices; semiconductor process control; sheet resistors; test patterns; thermally stimulated currents.

#### 1. INTRODUCTION

The kinds of planar test structures discussed here consist of sheet resistors, p-n junctions, and MOS capacitors. These structures were used to determine the sheet resistance of diffused layers, the dopant density and resistivity of bulk collector regions, and the identity of defect centers such as gold.

The discussion of diffused layers involves the intercomparison, design, and over-etch of sheet resistors. Simple and economical sheet resistance measurements are shown to lead to values for the width of diffused layers.

For device design, it is essential to have a correct resistivity versus dopant density relation, and various structures were designed to update this relation in both n- and p-type silicon. Dopant density values were obtained from gated diodes and MOS capacitors, and resistivity values were obtained from collector four-probe resistors fabricated on wafers with a variety of resistivities. The measured values were combined into a resistivity versus dopant density plot and compared with existing relations. For p-type silicon the traditionally used Irvin curve [1] differs significantly from the more recent Wagner curve [2] which also differs from our experimental data.

The important device characteristics, lifetime and leakage current, are degraded by defect centers such as gold. This defect center was studied in *n*-type MOS capacitors and in both  $p^+n$  and  $n^+p$  junctions. From thermally stimulated current measurements, the current response is very different for gold doped  $p^+n$  as compared with  $n^+p$  junctions. But the responses of gold doped n-type MOS capacitors and gold doped  $p^+n$  junctions are essentially the same. These thermally stimulated current responses can lead to rapid identification of gold contamination in silicon devices.

The thrust of this work emphasizes well-designed and miniaturized test structures and the development of the associated mathematical models. Once developed, these test structures could become part of a process control test pattern. The test structures used in this study are included in test pattern NBS-3 [3]. This pattern, which is shown in figure 1, was designed primarily for use in the evaluation of the resistivity versus dopant density relation. The overall size of the pattern is 200 mil (5.08 mm) on a side, and it is repeated every 200 mil (5.08 mm) over a wafer. The pattern contains diodes, transistors, MOS capacitors sheet resistors, contact resistors, etch-control structures, and a surface profilometer structure. The large blank area is intended for Hall effect measurements once the wafer is scribed and broken into chips. The structures discussed in the following sections are the large base-collector gated diode (3.10),\* the small base-collector gated diode (3.14), the collector MOS capacitor (3.8), the collector four-probe resistor (3.17), and a variety of sheet resistors (3.11, 3.22, 3.28, and 3.30).

#### 2. DIFFUSED LAYER SHEET RESISTANCE

Four sheet resistors in each of the patterns across a wafer were measured and the results displayed in figure 2. Sheet resistance values obtained from the van der Pauw [4] structures (3.11, 3.22, and 3.30) are comparable, which is expected since sheet resistances determined from symmetrical van der Pauw structures are independent of geometry. Values obtained from the bridge structure are low because, in the computation of the sheet resistance, the width was assumed to be the same as the photomask dimension, W(mask) = 1.50 mil (38.1 µm).

This point was explored further by combining sheet resistance measurements from the bridge (3.28) and van der Pauw (3.22) structures which are depicted in figure 3. The effective width of the bridge structure is given by

$$W_e = W(mask) + \alpha X_i + W_{OP}$$

where  $\alpha X_{i}$  accounts for lateral diffusion and  $W_{Oe}$  accounts for lateral over-etch. The van der Pauw measurement yields the sheet resistance directly. This was combined with the nearest-neighbor bridge measurement to obtain  $\overline{W}_{\rho}$ . The basediffusion-window width, W, was calculated from  $W = W_e - \alpha X_j$ . Values for W are shown in figure 4 as a function of position across a wafer for three different etch times. For these measurements  $\alpha X_j = 0.02 \text{ mil } (0.5 \ \mu\text{m})$  where  $\alpha = 0.3$  [5]. The width of the bridge structure was also determined from photomicrographs, and the results, shown as solid data points, are in good agreement with the values derived from electrical measurements. The effective width, We, of the bridge structure for the 3 min etch equals the window width, W = 1.57 mil (39.9  $\mu$ m), plus  $\alpha X_{i}$  or 1.59 mil (40.4  $\mu$ m). This value is 6 percent larger than the photomask dimension, W mask). The difference between We and W(mask) is important in the design of diffused integrated circuit resistors. Also apparent in figure 4 is the fact that electrical measurements can resolve dimensions smaller than 10 µin (0.25 µm). In addition these electrical dimensional measurements are inexpensive, especially when acquired by automatic probing machines. These measurements are discussed more fully elsewhere [6].

The orthogonal van der Pauw structure (3.22) shown in figure 3 is depicted in greater detail in figure 5. A mathematical model was developed for this structure to determine if a geometrical correction factor is needed in calculating the sheet resistance from the van der Pauw formula. The Laplace equation was solved with the use of finite-difference methods for the geometry shown in the lower part of figure 5 where the bonding pad areas were replaced by shorts on the ends of the arms. For this structure the measured sheet resistance differs from the van der Pauw value by less than 0.1 percent as indicated in figure 6. Here  $R_{\rm S}(\rm TRUE)$  is the true sheet resistance and  $R_{\rm S}(\rm VDP)$  is the sheet resistance determined from measurements with the use of the van der Pauw formula, which appears at the top of figure 6. The curves shown in figure 6 reveal that the side arms may be surprisingly short and wide compared to the active region without requiring as much as one percent correction to the van der Pauw formula. The active region is considered to be a square whose side is S. This study also allows the design of new structures whose active

in the

tic

iaci

The number following the decimal point refers to a structure shown in figure 3; the number 3 is the test pattern designation.

regions are typical of device geometries. For example, the cross structure (D/S = A/S = 1) has a small error and can be fabricated with the use of minimum line width.

#### 3. BULK DOPANT DENSITY

Dopant densities were determined in the collector (or bulk) region of a basecollector diode with the use of the junction C-V method [7]. As shown in figure 7, the diode (3.10) is gated and contains an inversion stop (labeled emitter). The dopant profiles for the gated diode are shown in figure 8 where incorrect profiles appear if the gate bias is improper. The proper gate bias is -5.5 V which corresponds to the flat-band condition for an equivalent MOS capacitor structure. This allows the peripheral junction capacitance to be approximated by a quarter toroid. The diode used in this study was 17 mil (430 µm) in diameter. Profiles can also be obtained with the use of a smaller diode (3.14) such as shown in figure 9 where again the base contact is confined within the base diffusion. This allows the measurement of correct capacitance values. An intercomparison of profiles for large and small diodes is shown in figure 10 where the peripheral correction brings the profiles of both diodes into agreement.

Dopant densities were also determined in the collector region of a collector MOS capacitor (3.8) as depicted in figure 11 with the use of the MOS capacitor C-V deep depletion method [8]. A dopant profile shown in figure 12 indicates the presence of phosphorus pile-up at the surface. The dopant density derived with the use of the MOS capacitor  $C_{max}-C_{min}$  method [9] is indicated as 1.04 x 10<sup>16</sup> cm<sup>-3</sup>. This value is considerably different from the bulk value of 6.28 x 10<sup>15</sup> cm<sup>-3</sup>.

The resistivity of bulk collector regions was determined [10] with the use of the collector four-probe resistor (3.17) shown in figure 13 where current points are denoted I<sub>1</sub> and I<sub>2</sub> and voltage points are denoted V<sub>1</sub> and V<sub>2</sub>. The structure is essentially a piped-transistor where the emitter is connected to the collector through a hole in the base. The base, which surrounds the structure, effectively shuts off surface currents forcing currents to flow in the collector region. The probe spacing is 2.25 mil (57 µm) which is small compared to the wafer thickness [ $\sim$  10 mil (25 µm)] so that back-side shorting effects are negligible.

The resistivity versus dopant density relation is depicted in figure 14 for *n*-type silicon in terms of the normalized difference between the Irvin curve and the Caughey-Thomas [11] closed-form formula. It is seen that the Caughey-Thomas formula fits the Irvin curve to within  $\pm 6$  percent over the dopant density range from  $10^{14}$  to  $10^{20}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>. Experimental data, which were determined by the above described methods, were compared to the Caughey-Thomas relation as shown in figure 15. If one ignores the high MOS capacitor values, where experimental difficulties were experienced, the data are within  $\pm 6$  percent of the Caughey-Thomas relation.

For *p*-type silicon the situation is much less satisfactory. The nature of the resistivity versus dopant density problem is shown in figure 16 for the case of *p*-type silicon. The traditionally used curve is that developed by Irvin [1]. More recently Wagner [2] developed another curve to fit ion implantation data. In the range of dopant densities between  $10^{17}$  and  $10^{18}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>, these curves differ in resistivity by more than 50 percent. The data points represent experimental results based on junction C-V, Hall effect, and four-probe measurements taken in conjunction with the American Society for Testing and Materials (ASTM), Committee F-1 on Electronics. These data tend to follow the Wagner curve. The impact of the different curves shown in figure 16 on device design is shown in figure 17 where the surface density for a Gaussian diffusion is calculated from a knowledge of the background density, the sheet resistance, and the junction depth. It is seen that the surface density near  $10^{18}$  cm<sup>-3</sup> differs by a factor of two depending on the choice of the resistivity versus dopant den-

sity relation. The data of figure 16 are replotted in figure 18 to point up the need for additional work in *p*-type silicon. Even though the data agree better with the Wagner curve than with the Caughey-Thomas closed-form formula of the Irvin curve, significant discrepancies are observed.

#### 4. DEFECT CENTERS

Defect centers, which cause lifetime and leakage current degradation in devices, were measured by the same kind of structures used to determine dopant density profiles. These structures (3.8 and 3.19) are shown in figures 7 and 11, and the class of measurements used to detect the defects is the thermally stimulated current measurements. This measurement method [12] is outlined in figure 19 where the upper curve indicates that a diode is cooled to near liquid nitrogen (LN<sub>2</sub>) temperature and then warmed back to room temperature (RT). While the diode is zero biased which charges defects with majority carriers (electrons for n-type or holes for p-type). Reverse bias is applied before the diode is warmed up. The lower curve indicates that during the warm-up cycle, certain defects emit majority carriers which are detected as a current pulse before the diode goes into steady-state leakage.

The thermally stimulated current response of various defect centers is shown in the following figures. In figure 20 the gold donor current peak [13] occurs near 130 K. The exact peak temperature depends on the heating rate. The gold acceptor current peak [14] occurs near 220 K as shown in figure 21. This response is quite different from the gold donor response. As indicated by the rapid rise in the current at higher temperatures, the gold acceptor center is the source of junction leakage. The response of the gold acceptor shown in figure 21 was observed in a  $p^+n$  junction. A similar response [14] was observed in an *n*-type MOS capacitor as shown in figure 22. In addition to the peak at 220 K a second peak occurs near 290 K. This higher temperature peak occurs as the MOS capacitor depletion region changes from its deep depletion width to its steady-state inversion width. From a theoretical model of the thermally stimulated current, the shape of the gold acceptor response depends on the fraction, G, of the depletion region over which defects are charged. This is illustrated in figure 23 where for G = 1 all defects in the depletion region are initially charged and for G = 0 none of the defects are charged.

#### 5. CONCLUSIONS

As part of a project to provide the semiconductor industry with well-designed and miniaturized structures for use in process control, various test structures and associated measurement methods were studied. Measurements of large and small van der Pauw structures and gated diode structures were shown to yield the same result. The geometrical design criterion for the orthogonal van der Pauw structure was established. Combination of electrical measurements from bridge and van der Pauw structures yields values for the base-diffusion-window width with high spatial resolution.

The resistivity-dopant density relation for silicon is being up-dated for use in device design. Initial preliminary results suggest that for n-type the Caughey-Thomas formula and for p-type the Wagner formula appear to be the best available in the current literature.

Simple test structures can be used to detect and identify lifetime and leakage centers. The thermally stimulated current response of gold in silicon leads to its rapid identification as a contaminant in p-n junctions and MOS capacitors.

#### 6. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors are indebted to R. Y. Koyama for establishing the MOS capacitor C-V deep depletion method and for the data appearing in figure 12, and to W. M. Bullis for a critical reading of the manuscript.

- Irvin, J. C., Resistivity of Bulk Silicon and of Diffused Layers in Silicon, Bell System Tech. J. <u>41</u>, 387-410 (1962).
- Wagner, S., Diffusion of Boron from Shallow Ion Implants in Silicon, J. Electrochem. Soc. <u>119</u>, 1570-1576 (1972).
- 3. Buehler, M. G., Semiconductor Measurement Technology: Test Pattern NBS-3 for Evaluating the Resistivity-Dopant Density Relation in Silicon, NBS Special Publication 400-22 (in preparation).
- van der Pauw, L. J., A Method of Measuring the Resistivity and Hall Coefficient on Lamellae of Arbitrary Shape, *Philips Research Reports* 13, 1-9 (1958).
- Penny, W. M. and Lau, L., eds., MOS Integrated Circuits, pp. 113-116 (van Nostrand Reinhold Company, New York, 1972).
- 6. Buehler, M. G. and David, J. M., Bridge and van der Pauw Sheet Resistors for Characterizing the Sheet Resistance and Oxide Window Width of Diffused Silicon Layers (to be submitted for publication).
- 7. Buehler, M. G., Peripheral and Diffused Layer Effects on Doping Profiles, *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices* ED-19, 1171-1178 (1972).
- van Gelder, W., and Nicollian, E. H., Silicon Impurity Distribution as Revealed by Pulse MOS C-V Measurements, J. Electrochem. Soc. <u>118</u> 138-141 (1971).
- 9. Deal, B. E., Grove, A. S., Snow, E. H., and Sah, C. T., Observations of Impurity Redistribution During Thermal Oxidation of Silicon Using the MOS Structure, J. Electrochem. Soc. 112, 308-314 (1965).
- Uhlir, A:, Jr., The Potentials of Infinite Systems of Sources and Numerical Solutions of Problems in Semiconductor Engineering, Bell System Tech. J. 34, 105-128 (1955).
- 11. Caughey, D. M. and Thomas, R. E., Carrier Mobilities in Silicon Empirically Related to Doping and Field, Proc. IEEE <u>55</u>, 2192-2193 (1967).
- 12. Buehler, M. G., Thermally Stimulated Measurements: The Characterization of Defects in Silicon p-n Junctions, Semiconductor Silicon 1973, H. R. Huff and R. R. Burgess, eds., pp. 549-560 (Electrochem. Soc., Princeton, N.J., 1973). This technique is also described in a videotape: Buehler, M. G., Defects in p-n Junctions and MOS Capacitors Observed Using Thermally Stimulated Current and Capacitance Measurements (June 1974) available for loan from H. A. Schafft, NBS, Washington, D. C. 20234.
- Buehler, M. G., Impurity Centers in p-n Junctions Determined from Shifts in the Thermally Stimulated Current and Capacitance Response with Heating Rate, Solid-State Electronics 15, 69-79 (1972).
- 14. Buehler, M. G. and Phillips, W. E., A Study of the Gold Acceptor in a Silicon p+n Junction and an n-type MOS Capacitor by Thermally Stimulated Current and Capacitance Measurements (to be submitted for publication).



Figure 1. Test pattern NBS-3 [3] fabricated with base (B), emitter (E), contact (C), and metal (M) masks. The length of the pattern along one side is 200 mil (5.08 mm).



POSITION ACROSS WAFER

NUMBER	STRUCTURE	DIMENSION
3.11	VAN DER PAUW (GATED)	12 mil (300 µm)
3,22	VAN DER PAUW	1.5 mil (38 μm)
3.30	VAN DER PAUW	30 mil (760 µm)
3.28	BRIDGE	1.5 mil (38 µm)

Figure 2. Base sheet resistance values across a silicon wafer for both the bridge and van der Pauw structures. The dimension refers to the active portion of the structures; diameters are indicated for 3.11 and 3.30, the length of the side of a square is indicated for 3.22, and the width of the bridge structure is given for 3.28.

BRIDGE SHEET RESISTOR (3.28)



6 mil (150 μm)

VAN DER PAUW SHEET RESISTOR (3,22)



Figure 3. Base bridge and van der Pauw sheet resistor structures. The center-to-center metal pad spacings are indicated. The voltage points are denoted  $V_1$  and  $V_2$ , and the current points are denoted  $I_1$  and  $I_2$ . The van der Pauw structure was laid out with orthogonal boundaries to aid automatic pattern generation.



Figure 4. Base-diffusion-window width across three silicon wafers etched for three, six, and nine minutes and measured by electrical and photographic methods.

VAN DER PAUW SHEET RESISTOR (3.22)



MATHEMATICAL MODEL EQUIVALENT GEOMETRY



Figure 5. The orthogonal van der Pauw sheet resistor structure and its mathematical equivalent geometry. The dimension S = 1.5 mil (38  $\mu$ m), A/S = 1/3, and D/S = 1/6.



Figure 6. Influence of geometrical factors on the orthogonal van der Pauw sheet resistance measurement as determined by a theoretical calculation. In the van der Pauw formula,  $R_S(VDP)$ ,  $\Delta V$  is  $V_1 - V_2$  for a current I passed into I<sub>1</sub> and out of I<sub>2</sub> as shown in the van der Pauw structure of figure 3.



Figure 7. Cross sectional view of the large base-collector diode (3.10).



DISTANCE FROM JUNCTION, B (µm)

Figure 8. Junction C-V apparent dopant profiles taken with the use of the gated diode (3.10) shown in figure 7 biased with various gate voltages,  $V_{\rm G}$ .



Figure 9. Cross sectional view of the small base-collector gated diode (3.14).



Figure 10. Junction C-V dopant profiles taken with the large and small base-collector gated diodes shown in figures 7 and 9. The corrected profiles illustrate the importance of the peripheral capacitance correction (wafer Bl2Ph-1).



Figure 11. Cross sectional view of the collector MOS capacitor (3.8).



Figure 12. MOS capacitor C-V dopant profile taken with the use of the collector MOS capacitor (3.8) shown in figure 11 (wafer 702). The depletion depth in the silicon for the inversion condition is  $X_D$ , and the Debye length is  $\lambda_D$ .



Figure 13. Top view and cross sectional views of the collector four-probe resistor (3.17). The center-to-center metal pad spacing is indicated on the upper photomicrograph.



DONOR DOPANT DENSITY IN SILICON (300 K), (cm<sup>-3</sup>)

Figure 14. Normalized resistivity difference versus dopant density for n-type silicon (300 K) which compares the work of Irvin [1] and Caughey-Thomas [11].





PHOSPHORUS DOPANT DENSITY IN SILICON (300 K), (cm<sup>-3</sup>)

Figure 15. Normalized resistivity difference versus dopant density for n-type silicon (300 K) which compares experimental data determined by NBS to the Caughey-Thomas [11] formula.



IONIZED OR TOTAL ACCEPTOR DOPANT DENSITY (cm<sup>-3</sup>)

Figure 16. Resistivity versus dopant density relation for p-type silicon (300 K). The curves are taken from the work of Irvin [1] and Wagner [2]. The data points are explained in the text.

19



SHEET RESISTANCE • JUNCTION DEPTH PRODUCT ( Q. + m)

Figure 17. Surface dopant density of a p-type Gaussian diffused layer in uniformly doped n-type silicon as a function of the product of the sheet resistance (300 K) and junction depth for various background dopant densities, N<sub>B</sub>.



Figure 18. Normalized resistivity difference versus dopant density for p-type silicon (300 K) which compares experimental data to the Wagner formula [2]. Also shown is a comparison between the Caughey-Thomas [11] and Wagner [2] formulas.



Figure 19. An outline of the thermally stimulated current measurement obtained with the use of a p-n junction.



TEMPERATURE (K)

Figure 20. Thermally stimulated current response of the gold donor located on the *n*-side of an  $n^+p$  silicon junction for various heating rates [13].



TEMPERATURE (K)

Figure 21. Thermally stimulated current response of the gold acceptor located on the *n*-side of a  $p^+n$  silicon junction for various heating rates [14].



TEMPERATURE (K)

Figure 22. Thermally stimulated current response of the gold acceptor in an n-type silicon MOS capacitor for various heating rates [14].



TEMPERATURE (K)

Figure 23. Thermally stimulated current response of the gold acceptor in n-type silicon for a heating rate of 10 K/s and for various G-factor values (explained in the text) [14]. The current is divided by a factor which includes the electronic charge, the area of the junction, the depletion width and the gold density.

NBS-714A (REV. 7-73)

	U.S. DEPT. OF COMM. BIBLIOGRAPHIC DATA SHEET	1. PUBLICATION OR REPORT NO. NBS SP 400-21	2. Gov't Accession No.	3. Recipient's Accession No.
4.	TITLE AND SUBTITLE			5. Publication Date
	Semiconductor Measurement Technology:			January 1976
	Planar Test Structu Silicon	6. Performing Organization Code		
7.	<ul> <li>7. AUTHOR(S) M. G. Buehler, J. M. David, R. L. Mattis,</li> <li>W. E. Phillips, and W. R. Thurber</li> </ul>			8. Performing Organ. Report No.
9. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION NAME AND		ON NAME AND ADDRESS		10. Project/Task/Work Unit No.
	NATIONAL BUREAU OF STANDARDS DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE		4258411	
			11. Contract/Grant No. SSPO IPR	
	WASHINGTON, D.C. 20234			SP6-75-4, ARPA 2397/
L				4D10, DNA IACRO 75-816
12	Sponsoring Organization Nar NBS - Washington	ne and Complete Address (Street, City, S , D. C. 20234 D. C. 20305	tate, ZIP)	13. Type of Report & Period Covered
	ARPA - 1400 Wils	on Blyd Arlington Virgi	nia 22209	14 Sponsoring Agency Code
	SSPO - Dept. of N	avv. Washington, D. C. 2	0376	in oponsoring ingency code
15. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES				

Library of Congress Catalog Card Number: 75-619390

16. ABSTRACT (A 200-word or less factual summary of most significant information. If document includes a significant bibliography or literature survey, mention it here.)

Various test structures such as sheet resistors, p-n junctions, and MOS capacitors and their associated physical models have been developed to characterize dopants and defects in silicon. These structures address various needs within the semiconductor industry for (a) well-designed and miniaturized test structures such as an orthogonal van der Pauw sheet resistor, (b) simple and economical measurements such as the oxide window width of a diffused layer, (c) updated values for the resistivity versus dopant density relation, and (d) improved detection methods for identifying defect centers which control the lifetime and leakage currents of devices.

17. KEY WORDS (six to twelve entries; alphabetical order; capitalize only the first letter of the first key word unless a proper name; separated by semicolons) MOS capacitors; p-n junctions; resistivity of silicon; semiconductor devices; semiconductor process control; sheet resistors; test patterns; thermally stimulated currents.

18. AVAILABILITY	ed	19. SECURITY CLASS (THIS REPORT)	21. NO. OF PAGES
For Official Distribution. Do Not Re	lease to NTIS	UNCL ASSIFIED	32
XX Order From Sup. of Doc., U.S. Gover Washington, D.C. 20402, SD Cat. No	nment Printing Office . C13. 10:400-21	20. SECURITY CLASS (THIS PAGE)	22. Price
Order From National Technical Infor Springfield, Virginia 22151	mation Service (NTIS)	UNCLASSIFIED	\$1.30

USCOMM-DC 29042-P74

# Announcement of New Publications on Semiconductor Measurement Technology

Superintendent of Documents, Government Printing Office, Washington, D.C. 20402

Dear Sir:

Please add my name to the announcement list of new publications to be issued in the series: National Bureau of Standards Special Publication 400-.

Name			
Company			
Address			
City	State	Zip Code	
(Notification Key N-413)			

#### PERIODICALS

JOURNAL OF RESEARCH reports National Bureau of Standards research and development in physics, mathematics, and chemistry. It is published in two sections, available separately:

#### Physics and Chemistry (Section A)

Papers of interest primarily to scientists working in these fields. This section covers a broad range of physical and chemical research, with major emphasis on standards of physical measurement, fundamental constants, and properties of matter. Issued six times a year. Annual subscription: Domestic, \$17.00; Foreign, \$21.25.

#### • Mathematical Sciences (Section B)

Studies and compilations designed mainly for the mathematician and theoretical physicist. Topics in mathematical statistics, theory of experiment design, numerical analysis, theoretical physics and chemis\*ry, logical design and programming of computers and computer systems. Short numerical tables. Issued quarterly. Annual subscription: Domestic, \$9.00; Foreign, \$11.25.

DIMENSIONS/NBS (formerly Technical News Bulletin)—This monthly magazine is published to inform scientists, engineers, businessmen, industry, teachers, students, and consumers of the latest advances in science and technology, with primary emphasis on the work at NBS. The magazine highlights and reviews such issues as energy research, fire protection, building technology, metric conversion, pollution abatement, health and safety, and consumer product performance. In addition, it reports the results of Bureau programs in measurement standards and techniques, properties of matter and materials, engineering standards and services, instrumentation, and automatic data processing.

Annual subscription: Domestic, \$9.45; Foreign, \$11.85.

#### NONPERIODICALS

Monographs—Major contributions to the technical literature on various subjects related to the Bureau's scientific and technical activities.

Handbooks—Recommended codes of engineering and industrial practice (including safety codes) developed in cooperation with interested industries, professional organizations, and regulatory bodies.

Special Publications—Include proceedings of conferences sponsored by NBS, NBS annual reports, and other special publications appropriate to this grouping such as wall charts, pocket cards, and bibliographies.

Applied Mathematics Series—Mathematical tables, manuals, and studies of special interest to physicists, engineers, chemists, biologists, mathematicians, computer programmers, and others engaged in scientific and technical work.

National Standard Reference Data Series—Provides quantitative data on the physical and chemical properties of materials, compiled from the world's literature and critically evaluated. Developed under a world-wide program coordinated by NBS. Program under authority of National Standard Data Act (Public Law 90-396).

NOTE: At present the principal publication outlet for these data is the Journal of Physical and Chemical Reference Data (JPCRD) published quarterly for NBS by the American Chemical Society (ACS) and the American Institute of Physics (AIP). Subscriptions, reprints, and supplements available from ACS, 1155 Sixteenth St. N. W., Wash. D. C. 20056.

Building Science Series—Disseminates technical information developed at the Bureau on building materials, components, systems, and whole structures. The series presents research results, test methods, and performance criteria related to the structural and environmental functions and the durability and safety characteristics of building elements and systems.

Technical Notes—Studies or reports which are complete in themselves but restrictive in their treatment of a subject. Analogous to monographs but not so comprehensive in scope or definitive in treatment of the subject area. Often serve as a vehicle for final reports of work performed at NBS under the sponsorship of other government agencies.

Voluntary Product Standards—Developed under procedures published by the Department of Commerce in Part 10, Title 15, of the Code of Federal Regulations. The purpose of the standards is to establish nationally recognized requirements for products, and to provide all concerned interests with a basis for common understanding of the characteristics of the products. NBS administers this program as a supplement to the activities of the private sector standardizing organizations.

Federal Information Processing Standards Publications (FIPS PUBS)—Publications in this series collectively constitute the Federal Information Processing Standards Register. Register serves as the official source of information in the Federal Government regarding standards issued by NBS pursuant to the Federal Property and Administrative Services Act of 1949 as amended, Public Law 89-306 (79 Stat. 1127), and as implemented by Executive Order 11717 (38 FR 12315, dated May 11, 1973) and Part 6 of Title 15 CFR (Code of Federal Regulations).

Consumer Information Series—Practical information, based on NBS research and experience, covering areas of interest to the consumer. Easily understandable language and illustrations provide useful background knowledge for shopping in today's technological marketplace.

NBS Interagency Reports (NBSIR)—A special series of interim or final reports on work performed by NBS for outside sponsors (both government and non-government). In general, initial distribution is handled by the sponsor; public distribution is by the National Technical Information Service (Springfield, Va. 22161) in paper copy or microfiche form.

Order NBS publications (except NBSIR's and Bibliographic Subscription Services) from: Superintendent of Documents, Government Printing Office, Washington, D.C. 20402.

## **BIBLIOGRAPHIC SUBSCRIPTION SERVICES**

The following current-awareness and literature-survey bibliographies are issued periodically by the Bureau: Cryogenic Data Center Current Awareness Service

- A literature survey issued biweekly. Annual subscription: Domestic, \$20.00; foreign, \$25.00.
- Liquefied Natural Gas. A literature survey issued quarterly. Annual subscription: \$20.00.

Superconducting Devices and Materials. A literature

survey issued quarterly. Annual subscription: \$20.00. Send subscription orders and remittances for the preceding bibliographic services to National Technical Information Service, Springfield, Va. 22161.

Electromagnetic Metrology Current Awareness Service Issued monthly. Annual subscription: \$24.00. Send subscription order and remittance to Electromagnetics Division, National Bureau of Standards, Boulder, Colo. 80302.

#### U.S. DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE National Bureau of Standards Washington, O.C. 20234

······

OFFICIAL BUSINESS

Penalty for Private Use, \$300

POSTAGE AND FEES PAID U.S. DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE COM=215



